Homicides in Henderson County, Illinois, 1830-1900

From:  

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University.
1831, March 7




HEN

HIST
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:      NONDOM
Motive:  ROBBERY
Intox?:    
Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  unknown man m. Daniel Harris

Weapon:  gun [prob. musket or rifle]

Circumstances:  on Ellison Creek, n.e. of present-day Media.  Shot while eating his supper alone in his cabin.  Twenty years after the crime, a newspaper in Cincinnati reported that a convicted murdered had confessed before his execution that he had killed DH.  Had seen DH withdraw money from a bank in New York & followed DH to Illinois.  The murderer said he had dressed as an Indian.  Only found 25 cents in the cabin.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  fled.
Legal records:  

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 41-4.

History of Henderson County (1882), 301-2.

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Probate inventory:  200 apple trees, honey stand & beehive, carpenter’s tools (was probably a carpenter).  

Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Daniel Harris
Ethnicity:

[English Canadian]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m
Children:

several
Occupation:

farmer
Town:


HEN
Birthplace:

came from Toronto, Upper Canada in summer 1830
Religion:



Organizations:

poss. War of 1812 veteran on the Canadian side
1859, Jan. 11
Greenville Precinct, HEN

HIST

CT

P

D



Class:    certain

Crime:  HOM 

Rela:     LEGAL OFFICER by SUSPECT
Motive:  FEUD b/w brothers / RESISTING WARRANT
Intox?:   

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:
4am

Days to death:  1


HOM:  Jacob Yeider (aided and abetted by Enoch Hollingsworth) m. David Welsh


Weapon:  rifle.  Shot in thigh.  Leg was amputated at 5pm.  D. 1/12.


Circumstances:  DW trying to arrest Enoch Hollingsworth for having taken control of his father’s mill & for refusing to allow his brother, Addison (who believed he was the rightful occupant), to enter.  JY was also residing at the mill with EH.  On evening of 1/10, EH & AH had a brawl in the mill over who had rightful possession.  AH hit EH with his fist, EH tried to club AH with a stick or adze.  AH told EH “he would run the mill if it was over their dead bodies.”  JY also struck AH.  Andy Morris, EH’s father-in-law, interceded and stopped the fight.  AH left the mill.


AH went on horseback to Oqauwka & got a warrant for arrest for assault & battery of EH, JY, AM, Allen Hollingsworth, and Willard Hollingsworth.  The j.p. ordered DW to serve it.  Arrived at 4am with several men & AH.  EH refused to let them enter the mill, so AH broke down the door with an axe & the party entered.  JY fired a rifle & hit DW in the leg.  DW allegedly had no weapon.  After shooting, JY & EH surrendered.



Welsh’s deposition:  EH & JY “stood with their guns drawn up pointing towards me.  Enoch Hollingsworth said to Yeider shoot, shoot, and Jacob Yeider shot me in my left thigh.”



Reason for light verdict & sentence:  apparently because DW was reckless in serving an a&b warrant late at night (he did so at AH’s insistence, & had himself wanted to wait until the next day).  Also because EH & JY were protecting JH’s property rights against intruders.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder:  JY, EH, and Joseph Hollingsworth (EH’s father).  JH was indicted because he owned the mill & had ordered EH & JY to let no one in.

Term:  5/1859

Court proceedings:    change of venue to Mercer Co., 9/1859t.  JH:  con’t.  JY & EH:  fG mansl.  2 yrs. each.  Both were pardoned by Gov. William H. Bissell on 2/16/1860.  Released 4/5/1860.
Legal records:  


Henderson Co. Circuit Court record 2: 596, 627-30

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 92-6.

History of Henderson County (1882): 59, 212

Theodore Calvin Pease and James G. Randall, eds. (1925-1933) The Diary of Orville Hickman Browning. Illinois State Historical Library Collections, v. 20 & 22.  20: 376-8.

Newspaper:  


Aledo Record, 9/13(2) & 9/20(1)/1859


Oquawka Spectator, 1/13(2) & 1/20(2)/1859, & 4/12(2)/1860

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Jacob Yeider
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

mill hand for Enoch Hollingsworth
Town:


Greenville Precinct
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

David Welsh
Ethnicity:

[nb Welsh or English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

constable
Town:


[Oquawka]
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1862, Apr. 18
Warren, HEN

HIST
CT





P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  FEUD over horse trade & a dog
Intox?:   

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  8

HOM:  Dr. Edward Lawrence m. William Hunt

Weapon:  3 shots from a revolver loaded with bird shot.  Perforated bowel with one of the shot.  d. 4/26

Circumstances:  bad blood b/w WH & EL over a horse trade & WH’s continuing verbal abuse of EL.  Then WH claimed that his dog had been poisoned by the son of Rev. Samuel Baker.  SB went with EL to David Baldwin’s tavern in Warren (where WH lived) to confront WH about his claim.  SB & WH had a loud conversation about the dog & WH was upset by EL’s presence.  “Here’s this d—d little Doctor!  What are you here for?”  WH came toward EL, who pulled his revolver.  EL claimed WH threw a slung shot ball at him & knocked his cap off.  EL shot WH twice.  WH tried to escape through the back kitchen, but EL followed him & chased him around the tavern & shot him a 3rd time.  EL, fearing a mob, fled on horseback.


At inquest, Baldwin, the major witness, said that WH had not resisted EL’s assault.  James L. Baker, the son of Rev. Baker, admitted he had killed Hunt’s dog by feeding it pounded glass on bread.  EL claimed self-defense & demanded 2 revolvers & a double barreled shotgun to protect himself with if he surrendered to the sheriff.  Captured 5/21 at his brother-in-law’s house, 6 mi. from Fairport, Iowa.



On 6/6, an arsonist burned down EL’s house.


Inquest:  i.d. 4/27/1862, Z. D. Fanning, cor.

Indictment:  mansl.

Term:  5/1862

Court proceedings:    fled, but captured 5/21.  Released on $600 b.  5/1863t:  fNG.
Legal records:  

Records and files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Henderson County, indictment for manslaughter of EL & jury verdict in case file of EL.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 96-8.

Allaman’s interpretation, 98:  WH “had a quarrelsome personality and like to intimidate other people especially Lawrence.”


History of Henderson County (1882: 59)

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 4/23(2) & 5/1(2) 5/15(2) & 5/29(3) & 6/12(3)/1862, and 5/21(3)/1863

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Dr. Edward Lawrence
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:

y
Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

physician
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

William Hunt
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



lived at the tavern of David Baldwin.
Town:


Warren
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1863, Aug.
HEN

or 1864, Dec. 10
HIST




CT
P

Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  ROBBERY
Intox?:   

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
11pm
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Daniel McCue, John DeHague, and Warren Park m. unknown man

Weapon:  gunshot, after having been hanged & having his hands cut off.

Circumstances:  Well-dressed man entered a bank in Burlington, Iowa, & made a large transaction.  He crossed the river to Illinois & stopped at an inn in Warren (or Hopper’s Mills), after telling a resident he was from the South & was looking for a place to live.  A male resident of Warren had witnessed the bank transaction & told his friends, who arranged to have the innkeeper kick the stranger out of the inn after supper & force him to go to a nearby house.


Group of residents arrived at 11pm & dragged the man from bed & accused him of horse theft.  Whipped him, hanged him until they though he was dead, hacked off his hands, & threw him into Ellison Creek.  The next morning, however, he was found alive, so he was shot to death.  The body was then dumped in the stone cistern of an unoccupied house.  The body was found in 12/1866 by the owner of the house, who was removing the stone from the cistern to use it for another purpose.  Found the skeleton with both hands missing.  Patch of red whiskers & remains of clothes.


Inquest:  i.d. 12/1866, Warren Park, j.p. & acting cor.  Verdict:  murder by persons unknown.

Indictment:  murder

Term:  3/1870

Court proceedings:    fNG
Legal records:  

Henderson Co., Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 273, indictment.

Warren County Circuit Court Clerk’s Book, 2: 3, Circuit Court Dockets, Record Series 4.18, Illinois Regional Archives Depository System.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 99-101.

101:  interpretation:  may not have investigated thoroughly because the man was a stranger from the South & so many local men had served in the Union Army.  Prejudice against a Southerner may have been a motive as well for such a large conspiracy, as was the amount of money he was alleged to have had.


History of Henderson County (1882: 538-40)

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 12/20(3)/1866 & 3/24(1)/1870

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Daniel McCue
Ethnicity:

[Scots Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Hopper’s Mills (Warren)
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

John DeHague

Ethnicity:

[French]
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Hopper’s Mills (Warren)

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Warren Park

Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Hopper’s Mills (Warren)

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

justice of the peace
Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


transient – from the South
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1864, Dec. 18
Gladstone Twp., HEN

HIST
P

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM:  2 adults
Rela:      LEGAL SUSPECTS by OFFICERS
Motive:  ATTEMPTED ROBBERY
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  a posse led by Isaiah J. Brook and William H. McChesney m. two men and badly wounded a third man

Weapon:  guns

Circumstances:  a band of robbers planned to steal money from Isaiah J. Brook at his residence, but one of their members had informed on them.  Brooks & his neighbors formed a posse and ambushed the robbers (on Brooks’ signal) when the robbers arrived.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Legal records:  

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 83-4.


History of Henderson County (1882): 373-4


Gordon: 120-4


Ross and Evans 1: 79

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 12/22(3) & 29(2)/1864, 2/2(2) and 5/4(3)/1865


Burlington Hawk-Eye, 12/22(3) & 12/23(3)/1864
Census:  

Genealogy:


IJB:  b. 11/1813 in Perry Co., OH.  D. 8/8/1890.

Accused 1:  

Isaiah J. Brook
Ethnicity:

[English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


51
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

farmer / landowner
Town:


Gladstone Twp., HEN
Birthplace:

Perry Co., OH
Religion:



Organizations:

had served 2 terms as co. commissioner
Accused 2:  

William H. McChesney

Ethnicity:

[Scots or Scots-Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Gladstone Twp., HEN

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

would later become treasurer of the vigilance comm.

Victim 1:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, June 11
Benton Slough, HEN

HIST
CT

P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  ROBBERY
Intox?:   

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
8am
Days to death:  2

HOM:  Jack Galliger (aided and abetted by Richard Willits, William Cunningham, and Russel Worden) m. J. H. Cooper

Weapon:  4-barrelled revolver.  Shot in lungs.  d. morning of 6/13.

Circumstances:  on board the “gunboat” of JHC, anchored 1.5 mi. north of Oquawka near the mouth of Benton slough.  The “gunboat” was “a floating house of ill fame” for gambling and prostitution, which landed at midnight, 6/11, and opened for business.  The four assailants arrived in Oquawka claiming that they were searching for a stolen skiff they thought was anchored near the gunboat.  Arrived at the gunboat in a buggy at 8am.  Worden stayed with horses & the others boarded the boat.  JG went into the room where JHC was eating breakfast, & Willits & WC guarded the door.  Shook hands and conversed while JHC finished his breakfast – men had been on good terms.  When JHC finished eating, JG pulled a revolver.  JHC thought it was a joke & raised a chair & ordered his dog to attack JG, but JG ordered JHC to sit down, then fired at him.  JHC said “Jack, I thought you was in fun.”  JG said he wanted money & demanded the key to the drawer, which JHC gave him.  JG took the money & stole an overcoat, watch, shotgun, & umbrella from JHC’s room.  They missed the $200 on JHC’s person.  The four men then escaped.



Willits & WC returned to Keithsburg on 615 & were arrested.  JG led detectives on a long chase, through Iowa, Nebraska, Indian Territory, Iowa, and then to Memphis, where he was caught.  JG made several unsuccessful attempts to escape.

Inquest:  i.d. 6/13/1867, Hinton Park, cor.  The residents of the gunboat testified & identified Galliger, Willits, & Cunningham as the robbers.

Indictment:  JG:  for murder

Term:  8/1867

Court proceedings:    3/1868t:  JG pG.  20 yrs.  [evidently could not be sentenced to death because of a technicality in the state’s laws]
Legal records:  


Henderson County Circuit Court Record, 5: 19, 25

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 101-8.

108:  interpretation – a premeditated robbery, or “Galliger went to the gunboat to pick a fight with Cooper and then covered his tracks by raiding the cashbox so as to suggest robbery as a motive.”


History of Henderson County (1882: 62)

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 6/13(3) & 6/20(3) & 7/18(3) & 8/15(3) & 12/26(3)/1867, and 2/20(3) & 3/19(3)/1868

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Jack Galliger 
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Keithsburg
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Richard Willits

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Keithsburg

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3:  

William Cunningham

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Keithsburg

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Russel Worden

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Keithsburg

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

J. H. Cooper
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:
captain of a “gunboat” for gambling & prostitution; a former steamboat engineer
Town:


transient
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, Dec. 20
Oquawka, HEN

P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     LEGAL PRISONER by GUARD
Motive:  JUSTIFIED / preventing ESCAPE from JAIL
Intox?:   

Day of week:
F
Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening
Days to death:  0

HOM:  member of a posse m. Army Hall

Weapon:  shotgun.  AH d. inst.  WR badly wounded in the back, but JS hid behind a stove after the lights went out & was not injured.

Circumstances:  Jack Gallager, jailed on a murder charge, feared mob action, so he conspired with a recently released prisoner, Army Hall, to escape.  AH recruited Wilson Rittenhouse & James Simpson & another unidentified man to help him, telling them that $200 was to be found at the jail.  Word leaked out, so Sheriff William Bunger brought in a posse to guard the jail.  The four men entered the jail, where the jailor, Mr. Fuller, his daughter, & a hired girl were sitting down to supper, & demanded the keys.  They handed them over.  AH, WR, & JS went to the cells to release JG, while the fourth man, evidently the informer, stayed with the jailor & his family.  Trapped the three men in a crossfire.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  no

Term:  


Court proceedings:    
Legal records:  

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 105-6.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 12/26(3)/1867

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Army Hall
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

former prisoner in county jail
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, July 24
East Burlington, HEN

HIST
CT





P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     BROTHEL CUSTOMER by TENDER
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:   prob. victim
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
night
Days to death:  0

HOM:  John Turner (aka Charles Coburn) m. Fred W. Watson

Weapon:  3 shots from a revolver.  d. inst.

Circumstances:  party at a house of prostitution – 1 ½ story former railroad hotel on the country road near the Mississippi River ferry landing, owned by Nathaniel (Jack) Hart, a raft pilot.  The carousing was intense when John Turner (aka Charles Coburn), who was tending bar, picked up a revolver that discharged accidentally.  JT apologized & left, but FWW said “that if Coburn came back he would use him severely.”  When CC returned to the bar, FWW threatened him.  CC refused to leave.  Jim Fry and Jack Hart then backed up FWW in his threats.  CC fired at FWW.  CC surrendered the next morning to Henderson Co. Judge Richard W. Richey.



After the arrest, a vigilance committee drove the residents of the house out, took them to the county jail, & burned the house to the ground.  Two weeks later, a group of vigilantes tried to burn a gunboat moored below the railroad bridge over the Mississippi at East Burlington.  The vigilantes fired a “half-bushel” of bullets into the gunboat, but could not get to the vessel, which set sail.

Inquest:  i.d. 7/25.

Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1870

Court proceedings:    fG.  14 yrs.
Legal records:  

Testimony of Andrew Miller & of Dr. David McMarshal & indictment for murder & jury verdict, Box 284, Henderson Co., Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 108-111.

History of Henderson County (1882: 59)

Newspaper:  


Oqauwka Spectator, 7/28(1) & 8/4(1) & 8/18 & 9/8(1)/1870
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

John Turner (aka Charles Coburn)
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

bartender at house of prostitution
Town:


East Burlington
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Fred W. Watson
Ethnicity:

[fb English] Canadian
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


26
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

b. Canada
Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Oct. 17
near Terre Haute, HEN

HIST
CT





P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  FEUD
Intox?:   no
Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
evening
Days to death:  4

HOM:  Joseph B. Johnson (aided and abetted by Thomas Johnson, his father, and James T. Johnson, his brother, and David F. Johnson, his brother) m. John “Pigfoot” Ewing

Weapon:  navy revolver.  1 shot in left breast, 1 shot above right hip.  D. 2am, 10/22.

Circumstances:  JE drove his horse & wagon to home of TJ.  The families had been hostile for some time.  JE angry this time because the Johnsons had intimidated a prospective buyer from buying JE’s home.  JE saw JTJ on the porch & told him to come out to the road & talk to him.  JTJ came to fence & JE asked why the Johnsons did not want him to sell his home.  Words exchanged.  JTJ called JE “a damned old Son of a bitch.”  JE demanded that JTJ come out in the road & say it again.  JTJ said he’d come out in the road & kill JE.  JTJ jumped over the fence & cocked his revolver to fire, but JE jumped from his wagon & tackled JTJ, one arm around JTJ’s neck & the other on JTJ’s pistol.  JE struck JTJ on the head with JTJ’s own revolver.  The gun fell on the road, but JE pulled his own revolver out of his pocket & kept hitting JTJ.  JTJ was yelling murder & his father & three brothers came to the rescue.  TJ had a carbine, JBJ a navy revolver.  JE let JTJ go & hid behind his wagon.  His lock was “out of fix” so he could not fire his pistol.  TJ told his son, JBJ, to shoot “the damned Son of a bitch.”  JBJ fired & hit JE.  JE ran into a field toward his home & the Johnsons chased him.  JBJ fired & hit JE again.  Chased JE for 300 yards, until he reached his wife & collapsed in her arms.  The Johnsons then gave up the assault.

Inquest:  i.d. 10/22.

Indictment:  TJ & JBJ for mansl of JE

Term:  3/1871

Court proceedings:    TJ, JTJ, & JRJ arrested & released on $750 bond, pending outcome of JE’s wounds.  After his death & after they fired at the posse that came to arrest them, TJ, JTJ, & JRJ were released on $10,000 bond each, & DFJ on $5,000 bond.  Warren Co. 5/1872:  JBJ fNG.  McDonough Co. 8/1873t:  TJ fNG.
Legal records:  

Henderson County, Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court. Statement by John Ewing, 10/20/1870, and testimony taken before the Grand Jury, 3/13/1871, Box 267.

Warren County Circuit Court Clerk’s Book, 2: 13

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 111-15.

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 10/27(1) & 11/3(1) & 11/10(1)/1870, 3/30(1) & 9/7(1)/1871, & 8/7(4)/1873

Macomb Journal, 7/31(2 & 3)/1873

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Joseph B. Johnson 
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
[s]
Children:



Occupation:

[farm laborer]
Town:


near Terre Haute
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Thomas Johnson, Sr.
Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:

at least 4 sons
Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:


near Terre Haute

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3:  

James T. Johnson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:



Occupation:

[farm laborer]
Town:


near Terre Haute

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 4:  

David F. Johnson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:



Occupation:

[farm laborer]

Town:


near Terre Haute

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

John “Pigfoot” Ewing

Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m
Children:



Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:


near Terre Haute
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Oct. 22
near Terre Haute. HEN

HIST
CT





P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     LEGAL OFFICER by SUSPECT
Motive:  RESISTING ARREST for murder
Intox?:   

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Joseph B. Johnson (aided and abetted by Thomas Johnson, his father, and James T. Johnson, his brother, and David F. Johnson, his brother) m. Calvin Owen (& aik on O. K. Booth)

Weapon:  shotgun.  CO hit in breast with a charge, penetrated his heart.  d. inst.  OKB wounded.  TJ shot in breast when posse returned fire.

Circumstances:  Constable Birch organized a posse of 7 or 8 men, including CO & OKB, to arrest the Johnson for the murder of John Ewing.  Birch knocked on the door & asked for Thomas Johnson.  There was no response, but a shot was fired from the cellar & hit CO.  Another shot from the cellar hit & wounded OKB.  A posse member fired into the cellar & hit TJ in the chest.  The posse retreated & Birch returned with 100 men.  TJ was arrested together with 2 of their hired men and 5 of their neighbors who were in the house.  Evidently the men in the cellar had heard that the Johnsons were going to be lynched, and they thought Constable Birch and his men were the lynching party.



The Johnsons had reputations for being bullies:  a neighbor said “They are in the habit of Drawing Revolvers on parties and carrying them about them & have been known to present Pistols, avowedly with the purpose of Shooting.”  Editors of the Macomb newspaper, where the trial of TJ was held, said he had gotten away with murder because he had “money” and “influential friends at court.”  Accused TJ of being a prominent local leader of the Copperheads during the Civil War & of the Knights of the Golden Circle.  Claimed his old comrades had influenced the judge & jury.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  TJ & JBJ for mansl of CO

Term:  3/1871

Court proceedings:    Warren Co. 5/1872:  JBJ fNG.  McDonough Co. 8/1873t:  TJ fNG.
Legal records:  

Henderson County, Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court. Statement by John Ewing, 10/20/1870, and testimony taken before the Grand Jury, 3/13/1871, Box 267.

Warren County Circuit Court Clerk’s Book, 2: 13

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University. 111-15.

115:  Interpretation:  both the Johnsons & JE had reputations for being bullies.  Courts ruled that the Johnsons were merely protecting their property from JE & the posse. 
Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 10/27(1) & 11/3(1) & 11/10(1)/1870, 3/30(1) & 9/7(1)/1871, & 8/7(4)/1873

Macomb Journal, 7/31(2 & 3)/1873

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

ditto previous case
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Calvin Owen
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim 2:  

O. K. Booth

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1871, Aug. 5
Raritan, HEN

CT

P






Class:    certain

Crime:   HOM 

Rela:      NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL WRESTLING

Intox?:   unknown

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:
n

Time of day:
9pm

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Thompson m. James A. Huggins


Weapon:  knife.  3 stabs in the right breast, under left arm, & in left breast.  Cut main artery.  d. in minutes.


Circumstances:  group of boys & young men gathered in front of Nevius and Fee’s store in Raritan.  Wrestling matches – JT & JAH boasted they could not be thrown.  Quarrel:  JT took out a knife & threatened JAH:  “If you want anything of me take it.”  Struck JAH.  JAH fled with help a man named Rupert, but surrendered on Sunday, fearing a mob.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1871

Court proceedings:    5/1872t in Warren Co.:  fG.  30 yrs.
Legal records:  

Henderson Co., Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 271, inquest.

Warren Co. Circuit Cork Clerk’s Book, 2: 29

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 115-17.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 8/10(1) & 9/7(1)/1871

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

John Thompson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

James A. Huggins
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


23
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1874, Apr. 16
[Oquawka], HEN

CT
P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  prob ROMANCE [Allaman’s interpretation] / prob REJECTED SEXUAL


  ADVANCE
Intox?:   unknown
Day of week:
Th
Holiday?:
n


Time of day:
evening, after 9pm
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Dennis Welch and Cy Caton suspected of m. Emma Watson

Weapon:  2 or 3 blows to the head & face with a club.

Circumstances:  EW was on a sewing commission until 9pm.  She did not sleep in her bed that night.  On the rocks on the Mississippi River below the Richey’s home (her foster family), her shawl & nightcap were found the next day.  Her body found 5/9 in the river, opposite where her shawl had been found.  She evidently left the house willingly, as she had changed her dress before going out again after returning from her commission.

Inquest:  i.d. 5/9/1874, W. H. Montgomery, acting cor.  Dr. Park, McDill, & Ruple examined the body.

Indictment:  DW:  murder

Term:  8/1874

Court proceedings:    arrested.  Hearing on 5/28/1874:  CC had been in Iowa on the evening of the murder, so he was discharged.  3/1875t:  DW:  pNG.  fNG, because evidence circumstantial.
Legal records:  

Henderson Co., Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 283:  file on Dennis Welch.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 117-19.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 5/14(1) & 6/4(1) & 9/10(1)/1874 and 4/1(1)/1875

Census:  

Genealogy:

EW:  a foster child.  Had lived with the family of Judge Richard W. Richey since she was 7.
Accused 1:  

Dennis Welch 
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Cy Caton 
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Emma Watson
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


18
Literate:



Marital Status:

s
Children:

n
Occupation:
seamstress – lived at home of her guardian, Judge Richard W. Richey (her foster family)
Town:


Oquawka
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1875, Nov. 6




East Burlington, HEN

CT
P

D

PAMP

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     BROTHEL EMPLOYEE by EMPLOYER
Motive:  ABUSE of EMPLOYEE 
Intox?:  prob. victim
Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  William W. “Bill” Lee m. Jessie McCarthy

Weapon:  physical.

Circumstances:  BL murdered JM, a prostitute who worked for him.  They met on 11/4, when JM asked for refuge on his gunboat.  Over next 2 days, JM asked WWL repeatedly for money, & he refused, saying he did not allow his girls “to eat Morphine or even drink whiskey.”  Got her to promise she would quit using morphine.  WLL “went to town” & returned on afternoon of 11/5 – asked JM to earn her keep by entertaining customers who wanted to dance, but she refused & cussed at him – he kicked her out of her room.  She was so groggy [in a drug-induced stupor?] that she fell down.  WWL put her in her room for the night.


Next morning, JM asked for money to take care “of her head”  He refused & told her to leave; she insulted him.  WWL went to Burlington & found her still there when he came back.  She was drunk & asked for money to send with Dan Brazee (a resident of the house) to get her morphine in town.  WWL refused, JM talked “very rough” to him.  WWL told her to leave, she cussed him more.  WWL “put her out of” his room & went to supper.  After supper, WWL gave DB money to give to JM as soon as she left the gunboat.  JM came into WWL’s room demanding money.  WWL refused, she cursed him.  He grabbed her, slapped her a few times, & took her to the kitchen & told DB to take her to town.  JM then jerked loose from WWL “and fell on the floor cussing him.”  WWL said he lost control & kicked her until he had killed her.



Story of the witnesses:  Sarah Smith:  WWL had repeatedly kicked JM on F night in the bedrooms or upstairs hall.  The next morning JM had a square cut in her foot made by glass.  WWL bought a pair of boots in town that morning & said “By God, these will finish her.”  At 7pm on Sat. night, heard stomping & WWL said “you d—d b---h, do you know me now?”  Dragged JM downstairs to the itchen & started jumping & stomping on her body & fac e.  WWL said to “bring the coffin.”  When brought downstairs, her clothes were “clear up round her waist.”  JM was then taken to the summer kitchen & .5 hr. later DB & WWL dragged JM to a nearby tree.  WLL “gritted his teeth and kicked her on the side and back till he turned her over and then he kicked her in the face and jumped on her till . . . her neck crack[ed].  He got a club and struck her two or three times.”  Lizzie Thompson and Jennie Smith went to see her & found her cold & dead.  WWL told the residents of the gunboat that he would kill anyone who “cheeped” or “cheeked,” & ordered them to say JM had left at 5pm that evening.  WWL then ordered DB, William Perkins, & Larry O’Neil to take JM’s body in a skiff to the Iowa channel & dump her body.  WP or WWL then burned her clothes.  Secret kept until midnight, 11/20, when DB confessed to Alderman Hunt of Burlington.  Captured 10 inhabitants of the gunboat, including WWL, & locked them up.


The evening after the arraignment, vigilantes burned the gunboat.  WWL tried to escape several times, fearing he would be lynched.  JM’s body washed up on an island near Montrose, IA, on 2/26/1876.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  WWL:  murder

Term:  3/1876

Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG M-1.  Death.  Executed on 6/16/1876 in Oquawka.  Witnesses for prosecution:  Lizzie Thompson, Margaret Ann Hawkins (aka Frank Perkins), Jennie Smith, Sarah Smith, Jed Courville, William Perkins, Dan Brazee, Howard Wright.  Witnesses for defense:  WWL, Lewis Lee & Dr. John Lee (character witnesses for their brother).  Other defendants on the gunboat had their bonds reduced from $1000 to $100 & were released.  Only Larry O’Neal, who demanded a trial by jury, was tried at 8/1876t:  fNG.
Legal records:  

Henderson Co., Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 270, file on William W. Lee

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 125-45.

Interpretation:  WWL had an abusive, violent father & a devout mother.  Probably abused as a child.  Father was probably a heavy drinker as well – even his brother, Dr. John Lee, was arrested in Burlington for drunkenness.  Much alcoholism in the family.

History of the gunboat:  originally a flatboat decked over & divided into apartments.  Had been left beached on the shore of the river & was rebuilt into a house, but arsonists burned it in 11/1872.  In spring of 1873, a large 2 story house was erected in the same spot as the gunboat.  William Lee took over management from his cousin, Harry Lee, in spring of 1875, because HL feared the vigilantes.  (JLA p. 127)

Lee, John H. and Lewis Lee, comps. (1876) A Full and Authentic Account of the Trial of William W. Lee for the Murder of Jesse McCarty, also His Dying Confession, Written by Himself. Burlington, Iowa: Hawk-Eye Steam Printing and Binding Co.

Compiled by WL’s brothers.  Its accuracy uncertain, but the main source on WL’s life.

Pease, Theodore Calvin and James G. Randall, eds. (1925-1933) The Diary of Orville Hickman Browning.  Illinois State Historical Library Collections, v. 20 & 22.  Springfield: Illinois State Historical Library.  22: 452.  On the execution.
Newspaper:  


Chicago Tribune, 6/17(5)/1876


Monmouth Review, 6/23/(1)/1876

Burlington Hawk-Eye, 4/25(1) & & 4/26( ) & 4/27( ) & & 4/28( ) & 4/29(2) & 4/30(1) & 6/17(5)/1876

Oquawka Spectator, 11/25(1) & & 12/2(1)12/30(1)/1875, and 2/2(1) & 2/17(1) & 3/1/(1) & 4/27(1) & 5/4(1) & 5/18(1) & 6/16(1)/1876

Oquawka Spectator Extra 4/28/1876


Burlington Gazette, 11/22(8) & 11/23(8) & 11/26(8)/1875

Census:  

Genealogy:


WWL:  at age 18, m. Annie Stallman.  Lived with her 2 yrs, had 1 son.  Left her & moved to Sac Co., Iowa & worked with his brother as a brick mason.;  m. Maggie Wilson there & lived with her 3 years.  They moved back to Fairfield, IA, to be with her parents, but WWL had trouble with his father-in-law & started drinking & womanizing & accusing his wife of infidelity, so he left her in 1874 & became a wanderer.  To Salt Lake City, Utah, then Galveston, TX, the Mo, then Indian Territory (Oklahoma), then St. Louis, where his cousin Henry contacted him & asked him to take over the gunboat.  WWL:  heavy drinker, quarrelsome.


JM:  m. age 22 to a burglar named McCarty.  She had worked as a servant for wealthy families in Burlington.  Heavy drinker, probably morphine addict.

Accused:  

William W. “Bill” Lee 
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
70”, 170 lbs.
Age:


28
Literate:

uncertain – briefly in common school
Marital Status:  
estranged from his second wife
Children:


Occupation:
proprietor & captain of a gunboat (a floating house of gambling & prostitution)
Town:


East Burlington, IL
Birthplace:
Jefferson Co., Iowa.  At age 2, moved with his parents to Davis Co., Iowa.  Moved back to Jefferson Co. at age 17.  His parents, b. KY, moved to Iowa in 1837 via Indiana.
Religion:

Methodist Protestant (member at age 9)
Organizations:



Victim:  

 Jessie McCarthy

Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

f

Age:


32
Literate:

estranged from her husband
Marital Status:

s
Children:

n


Occupation:

prostitute

Town:


East Burlington

Birthplace:

b. MO
Religion:



Organizations:



1876, May 20
Sagetown, HEN

CT






(now Gladstone)
P

HIST

Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:   unknown
Day of week:


Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  3

HOM:  Charles Stiltz m. Augusta Stiltz (his wife)

Weapon:  table knife.  d. 5/23.  Coroner’s report:  “entered just above the lobe of the left ear, passing downward and forward, making a clean cut.”

Circumstances:  CS’s story:  he & his wife had gone to pick up driftwood along South Henderson Creek.  He went further down creek & when he returned home found his wife had fallen on the rocks & had cut her ear.

Inquest:  verdict:  murder.

Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1876

Court proceedings:    pNG.  fNG.
Legal records:  


Henderson Co. Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 279.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 146-7.


Interpretation:  fNG probably because no one saw him stab his wife.



History of Henderson County (1882: 61-2)

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 6/1/1876.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Stiltz
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. Augusta
Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Sagetown
Birthplace:

b. Germany, probably (had difficulty speaking English]
Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Augusta Stiltz
Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Charles
Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Sagetown
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1877, July 4





Carman, HEN

CT
P






Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:   yes, assailant – possibly victims as well
Day of week:
w
Holiday?:
Fourth of July


Time of day:
evening
Days to death:  2

HOM:  Jesse Asher m. Charles McCannon (& aik on Jacob Hamlin)

Weapon:  handgun.  Fired at random.  Hit CM in the abdomen; d. 7/6.  JH his in left wrist & right arm.  Recovered.  [revolver]

Circumstances:  JA drunk & got into an argument at the Fourth of July celebration in Carmen & started firing.  [street]

Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1877

Court proceedings:    3/1878t:  request for change of venue denied.  pNG.  fG mansl.  10 yrs.
Legal records:  

Henderson Co. Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 256.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 147-50.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 7/12(1) & 7/26(1) & 9/6(1)/1877 & 4/11(1)/1878

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Jesse Asher
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


20
Literate:



Marital Status:  
[s]
Children:

[n]
Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Charles McCannon
Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1880, July 3





Sagetown, HEN

CT






(now Gladstone)
P




Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:   yes, assailant
Day of week:


Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
10:30pm
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Archibald Troup m. Stephen S. Phelps, Jr.

Weapon:  handgun.  d. inst.[handgun, unspecified type]

Circumstances:  at railroad station in Sagetown.  SP had driven to the station to pick up a lady train passenger from Kirkwood.  The east bound train arrived from Burlington, Iowa arrived & AT got off.  AT had a “hilariously” good time that day in Burlington & was quite drunk.  Mixed with crowd, became boisterous, & drew his revolver.  Threatened to shoot someone.  James McFarland, a switchman, tried to calm him down, but failed.  Thomas Cummins also intervened & told AT he had nothing to fear.  AT replied by cocking his gun.  TC tried to seize the gun.  AT fired, grazed TC’s cheek, & hit SP, who was talking to someone else & was not involved in the encounter.  Crowd beat AT, but not seriously injured.

Inquest:  7/4:  murder

Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1880

Court proceedings:    pNG.  fG mansl.  10 yrs.  Pardoned 12/1886 by the governor.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 278.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 156-8.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 7/8(1) & 7/22(1) & 9/9(1) & 9/16(1)/1880 & 3/24(1)/1887

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Archibald Troup
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Stephen S. Phelps, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


31
Literate:



Marital Status:

m
Children:

2 ch.
Occupation:
proprietor of livery stable in Oquawka.  Prominent, son of one of the founders of Oquawka.
Town:


Oquawka
Birthplace:

Oquawka
Religion:



Organizations:



1887, Feb. 7






HEN

CT
P






Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  FEUD but not over property – over family governance & abuse
Intox?:   no
Day of week:


Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
6:30pm
Days to death:  0

HOM:  John Robinson m. Solomon Zinc

Weapon:  revolver.  Shot 2 or 3 times.  Inst.

Circumstances:  at home of JR, 3.5 mi. se of Raritan.  SZ quarrelsome & often cussed JR & JR’s children.  Several yrs. before, when JR was correcting one of his children, SZ intervened & threw an axe at JR, saying he was sorry it did not kill JR.  SZ threatened JR’s daughter, Laura (14), repeatedly – cornered her, threatened to slap or kill her, once threatened her with a stove hook.  Often threatened her after he had teased or tormented her.  SZ often imposed on family by staying for dinner & supper, until 3 weeks before the murder JR told SZ not to come around anymore.  Weds. before the murder, SZ came by again & interfered when JR was correcting his son.  SZ threatened JR, saying he had a butcher knife & a pair of “knucks,” & if JR crossed his path he “would do him up.”  JR went to Kirkwood & bought a revolver.



JR went to Good Hope on day of murder.  SZ came to JR’s house about 5pm & told Mrs. R that he was tired & mad & wanted to see JR.  Mrs. R was lying on a lounge & SZ was in a rocking chair by the window reading a newspaper when JR arrived.  After a short discussion, JR pulled out his revolver & shot SZ.  JR turned himself in the next morning.  JR was a hero to some folks in Raritan, because SZ was so widely disliked.


Inquest:  witnesses:  Mrs. Ann Robinson & Miss Laura Robinson.  JR released on his own recognizance.

Indictment:  murder

Term:  3/1887

Court proceedings:    pNG.  40 witnesses, including JR.  fG of murder.  14 yrs.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court.

Henderson County Circuit Court record, 8: 353-5, 357-60.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 159-62.

Interpretation:  newspaper said of JR’s testimony, “If his story be true, it brands him as one of a very cringing and cowardly nature, and leaves with those who heard him a bad impression of his manhood, self respect, or love of family.”  Also, fG because of signs of premeditation:  bought revolver, shot SZ dead while SZ sat in a chair.  //  JR acted because of his abuse of JR & JR’s daughter.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 2/10(1) & 2/17(1) & 3/24(1)/1887

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

John Robinson
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


37
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. Ann
Children:

4 ch.
Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:


Raritan
Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Solomon Zinc
Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


27
Literate:



Marital Status:

s
Children:

n
Occupation:
farm laborer; had been JR’s hired man for 22 mo., 3 yrs. before the shooting
Town:


Raritan
Birthplace:

PA
Religion:



Organizations:



1890, Dec. 1





HEN

P
CT






Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     MARITAL HUSBAND by BROTHER-IN-LAW
Motive:  ABUSE of WIFE
Intox?:   no
Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
1pm
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Barnum Brown (aided and abetted by his brother, William Brown) m. George W. Holly (his brother-in-law)

Weapon:  musket loaded with small shot to chest.  k. inst.

Circumstances:  at house of victim, near Hopper’s Mills.  GH m. Ann (Brown) in 7/1889 (her 3rd husband).  A troubled marriage – GH reputed to have whipped his wife & stepchildren.  Angered his brothers-in-law, William & Barnum Brown.  BB said in public “that’s my ____ brother-in-law, and I’ll never be satisfied until I blow his brain out.”  WB once said, after fighting with GH, that “he did not strike him with a brick bat but with his fist and would give him a _ sight more, all he wanted.”  //  GH was a large, strong man, but he was afraid of WB & BB, & kept a 38-cal. revolver & threatened to use it against them.


A(B)H decided to leave GWH, so WB & BB arrived that day to help AB move out.  Defendants claimed that while WB tied up the team, BB headed to the house carrying a musket.  GWH came out & threatened him with an axe & the scuffled.  When GWH reached for the musket, it went off accidentally.  The brothers then moved their sister out of the house, & BB surrendered to a j.p.


Witness for prosecution:  Olaf Brown (no relation), a blacksmith & farmer.  Was rabbit hunting that day, & stopped by GWH’s to collect money GWH owed him.  Saw the argument from behind some trees.  Saw BB shoot GWH, & GWH did not have an axe in his hand at the time.  Says that WB planted the evidence of the axe.  ABH spat in GWH’s face after he was dead & kicked the body, & WB took something from GWH’s pocket.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  WB & BB:  murder

Term:  3/1891

Court proceedings:    WB & BB arrested.  pNG.  fG.  30 yrs. each.  Both paroled from Joliet on 1/5/1904, after serving nearly 13 yrs.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 258

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 162-5.

Interpretation:  public opinion favored an indictment against ABH as well, and was sympathetic to Mrs. WB, who had to raise 5 children by herself.  WB & BB may not have intended to kill GWH, but they meant to intimidate him with their guns.
Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 12/3(1)/1890, 3/11(1) & 3/18(1) & 3/25(1)/1891, & 1/13(4)/1904

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Barnum Brown

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

Literate:



Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

William Brown

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


36

Literate:



Marital Status:  
m

Children:

5 ch.

Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

George W. Holly
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m

72”, 180 lbs., strong
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Annie (Brown) in 7/1889 – her 3rd husband
Children:

yes, several stepchildren (AB’s children)
Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1892, Feb. 17






HEN

P
CT




HIST
Class:    probable
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     prob. NONDOM
Motive:  prob ROBBERY
Intox?:   

Day of week:


Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
evening
Days to death:  0

HOM:  unk. persons (prob. John Block, Lutie Franks, Henry Peyton, and Dan Waters)  m. Robert H. Rankin

Weapon:  unknown.  No body ever found.

Circumstances:  RHR had business in Mount Pleasant, IA.  Boarded the train at Monmouth & was last seen at a stop in Biggsville.  Was in smoking car with several other men when a witness disembarked in Biggsville.  On 2/24, a “plush” cap thought to be his found in an eddy along bank of Mississippi River:  had a merchant’s label in it from Monmouth – like a cap RHR had owned.  Engaged to marry 3/9, but never appeared for the wedding.


William Higgins (a young tough from East Burlington, who was involved in highway robberies with John Block and Lutie Franks) and his half-sister, Lizzie Rogers, testified that they suspected JB, LF, Henry Peyton, and Dan Waters had been involved in robbing & murdering RHR.  HP & DW came to their house in East Burlington late one night & told WH & LR they had killed a man & wanted to borrow a boat to bury the man in the cellar of a house on Big Island (2 mi. south of the railroad bridge).  Also, a few days after RHR disappeared, WH saw that JB had a long red pocket diary similar to RHR’s.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  JB & LF:  robbery (for an earlier robbery of William Gillispie and Freeman Doaks than did not end in murder) [no murder indictment, because of lack of body & of firm evidence].  No indictments against HP, DW, or WH.

Term:  3/1893

Court proceedings:    JB & LF:  pNG to robbery.  fG.  JB:  5 yrs.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 285.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 165-8.


Gordon (1911) History of Henderson County, Illinois: 134.

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 12/7(1) & 12/14(1) & 12/21(1) & 12/28(1)/1892, & 3/15(1) & 3/22(1)/1893

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

John Block
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Lutie Franks

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Henry Peyton

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Dan Waters

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Robert H. Rankin
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

single, but engaged to marry on 3/9/1892
Children:

no
Occupation:

a stock farmer
Town:


Monmouth, HEN
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1894, July 22






HEN

P
CT






Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM MANSL
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL / DANCE
Intox?:   yes, most everyone at the dance
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
2am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Swan Swanson m. Gustavus Adolphson

Weapon:  hit GA with a 2’ stick.  GA fell over backwards & hit the floor – hitting the floor prob. killed him.  Dislocated his neck.

Circumstances:  at a dance at the home of Fred and Andy Landstrom near Decorra on Sat. night over into Sun. morning.  SS & GA quarreled about something & SS hit GA.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder

Term:  8/1894

Court proceedings:    3/1895t:  pNG.  fNG.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 278.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 168-70.

Interpretation:  fNG because most witnesses were drunk & the only other testimony (the clearest) was from an 11 year old girl.

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 7/25(1) & 9/12(1)/1894, & 3/6(1) & 3/13(1)/1895.  Editor’s remark, 3/13/1895:  “Whatever else conspired to cause that man’s death, drink was an important factor.  Tally one more murder for whiskey.”

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Swan Swanson

Ethnicity:

Swedish
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Gustavus Adolphson
Ethnicity:

Swedish
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1899, Feb. 9






Gladstone, HEN

P
CT






Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  ABUSE
Intox?:   

Day of week:
Th
Holiday?:
n


Time of day:
morning
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Isaac Neice m. Nettie Toup Neice (his wife)

Weapon:  axe, crushed skull.

Circumstances:  troubled marriage for 24 years.  On one occasion, one of NN’s brothers saw her chase IN with a butcher knife.  IN a good provider for his wife & 8 children & had just moved his family into a new house partially built by IN.  A strange person, though, in opinion of neighbors:  rarely spoke more than 1 or 2 minutes to neighbors, & was an unusually hard worker.  Sometimes worked in a nearby sand pit, starting at 3am:  would have a car loaded by the time the other workers arrived.  And after a full day at the sand pit, he could come home & put in another full day’s work on his home.


On day of murder, IN left home early to work at sand pit.  At 9am, after all but one of the children had gone to school, he murdered her while she was stooping at a cupboard, a pan of wishes on the sink to be washed.  Her body fell on the hot stove & was scorched.  IN then went to a neighbor’s, Charles Colyer, and asked him to come over & get IN’s baby, who IN claimed was dying.  CC went over, saw NN’s body, & called in another neighbor, William Signor.  WS asked IN “Who did it?”  IN said “I did.  She wouldn’t give the baby its medicine.”  The child in fact had the croup & was not seriously ill.


IN showed no remorse & said he could remember nothing about his wife’s death.

Inquest:  Dr. William J. Emerson, county coroner.  Verdict:  murdered by IN.

Indictment:  murder

Term:  3/1899

Court proceedings:    10/1899t:  pNG by reason of insanity.  fG.  Life.  Defense:  IN peculiar in his habits & had a violent temper & was insane.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 289.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 170-3.

Interpretation:  IN’s actions after his wife’s death “show some mental disorientation.  He seemed more concerned about his child’s supposed sickness than the fact that he had just axed his wife to death.  If Neice did commit a premeditated act of murder then why did he reveal his bloody deed immediately after by calling his neighbor over to his house?”  (173)

Newspaper:  

Oquawka Spectator, 2/15(1) & 2/22(1) & 3/8(1) & 3/15(1) & 4/19(1) [attempted escape from jail] & 10/4(1) & 10/11(1) 10/18(1)

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Isaac Neice
Ethnicity:

[French]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. Nettie Toup
Children:

8 ch. For 24 yrs.
Occupation:

laborer in sand pit
Town:


Gladstone
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Nettie Toup Neice
Ethnicity:

[French]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Isaac for 24 yrs.
Children:

8 ch.
Occupation:

housewife
Town:


Gladstone
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1899, Nov. 19






Oquawka, HEN

P
CT






Class:    uncertain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL or REVENGE for testimony against his stepson
Intox?:   prob. both
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
n


Time of day:
morning
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Thomas Stimpson (aided and abetted by Harry Taylor, his stepson) suspected of m. Grant Cassell

Weapon:  star-shaped fracture at the back of the skull & the arms had been broken between the shoulder & elbow.  [possibly made by a club]

Circumstances:  fire discovered in the village.  Saved everything but a one-story frame house rented by GC.  He was only a few feet from the window while the fire raged.  The head & trunk were saved, but the lower body was burned off.


GC, Guy Tinker (the main witness), and Thomas Stimpson had been drinking at Hood’s saloon in Oquawka.  All 3 went back to GC’s to go to sleep at 1am.  As they were getting into bed, GC, instead of blowing out the lighted lamp, kicked it against the wall of the bedroom & started a fire.  TS claimed he escaped through the kitchen door & almost choked on the gas from the fire, & said GT went out the window of the bedroom.  GT testified instead that he had seen GC kick the lamp, but that GT had put out the fire & gone to sleep.  GT later woke up with fire all around him.  He jumped out the window, but saw no sign of TS or GC.  Both TS & GT claimed they had not been heavily intoxicated.  GT had fewer than a dozen drinks of whiskey & beer.



Motive:  revenge because TS’s stepson, Harry Taylor, had been charged with highway robbery, & GC had been at witness against HT.

Inquest:  Dr. William J. Emerson, cor.  Verdict:  murder

Indictment:  TS, HT, & Guy Tinker:  murder

Term:  3/1900

Court proceedings:    pNG.  10/1900t:  np for lack of evidence.
Legal records:  

Henderson County Records and Files of the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Box 290.

Other sources:

John Lee Allaman (1989) Nineteenth Century Homicide in Henderson County, Illinois: A Study of Court Records and the Press Media as Reliable Sources for Writing Local History. Ph.D. dissertation: Illinois State University, 173-5.

Interpretation:  possible that GC’s death was accidental, & GT’s claim that he had not been drunk at the time is not plausible.

Newspaper:  


Oquawka Spectator, 11/22(1,4) & 11/30(1,4)/1899 & 3/14(1) & 10/30(1)/1900

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Thomas Stimpson
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Oquawka
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 1:  

Harry Taylor 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Oquawka

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Guy Tinker 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Oquawka

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Grant Cassell
Ethnicity:

[nb English]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

[s]
Children:

[n]
Occupation:

rented a house, lived alone
Town:


Oquawka
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



